FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
2/10/2022 4:21 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/11/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100640-3</u> (Court of Appeals No. 54512-8-II)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

### DIEGO MARTINEZ MARTINEZ,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEVON KNOWLES Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 wapofficemail@washapp.org

###

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Diego Martinez Martinez asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Martinez Martinez*, No. 54512-8-II (filed January 11, 2022). A copy of the opinion is attached as an Appendix.

### B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. In order to safeguard the constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict, the State must present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt each alternative means of committing a crime that it presents to the jury. If sufficient evidence does not support each alternative, reversal is required unless there is a "particularized expression" of juror unanimity. Here, the jury was instructed on both the deadly weapon and kidnapping alternative means of committing first degree rape. However, the State failed to prove the deadly weapon alternative means when, after initially testifying that she saw a knife during the sexual assault, the alleged victim recanted her earlier testimony and repeatedly clarified she did

not see the knife until after the assault was complete. Should this Court accept review where (1) the conviction for rape violated Mr. Martinez Martinez's right to a unanimous jury, and (2) whether deference to jury determinations regarding credibility includes assuming jurors disregarded a sworn witness's recantation is an issue of substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

- 2. Article IV, section 16 prohibits judges from commenting on the evidence, including the credibility of witnesses. Should this Court accept review where (1) the court's redaction of Ms. McKinney's name in the to-convict instructions clearly communicated to the jury the court's resolution of a disputed fact, and (2) whether a court may use redactions in jury instructions is a significant question of constitutional law and an issue substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 3. Mr. Martinez Martinez has a right to due process, including the presumption of innocence. Should this Court

accept review where the redaction of Ms. McKinney's name in the to-convict instruction undermined this presumption and relieved the State of its burden of proof? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

- 4. A statute fixing a sentence may be void for vagueness where it fails to give fair notice of the conduct it punishes or is so standardless as to invite arbitrary enforcement. The particular vulnerability aggravator creates arbitrary results by inviting jurors to imagine the "typical" version of the crime. Should this Court accept review where (1) Mr. Martinez Martinez's exceptional sentence was predicated on an unconstitutionally vague aggravator, and (2) whether *State v*. *Baldwin*'s prohibition on challenging aggravators is valid in light of the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Blakely v. Washington* is a significant question of constitutional law and a matter of substantial public interest? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).
- 5. A trial court must correctly calculate a defendant's offender score and standard range sentence prior to imposing an exceptional sentence. Here, the trial court imposed a sentence

based, in part, upon an offender score that included a prior conviction for possession of a controlled substance, held to be unconstitutional in *State v. Blake*, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). Should this Court accept review where the Court of Appeals found the imposition of an exceptional sentence in this case precluded resentencing? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After returning home later than usual, Shenika McKinney told her mother that she was raped by a homeless man. RP 610-11. Ms. McKinney is autistic and functions approximately at the level of a seven-year-old. RP 614. Although she does not live independently, she takes public transportation, gets herself to-and-from appointments, and cooks for herself. RP 526-28, 601, 605, 686.

The following day, Ms. McKinney was evaluated by a sexual assault nurse at the local hospital. RP 700-01, 711-12.

Ms. McKinney told the nurse that the man had a knife, and the nurse observed superficial cuts on Ms. McKinney's hands. RP

758, 808-09. The exam revealed the presence of Mr. Martinez Martinez's deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). RP 945.

The State charged Mr. Martinez Martinez with first degree rape, alleging the alternative elevating means of using or threatening to use a deadly weapon and/or kidnapping Ms.

McKinney. CP 7-8. The charge included a deadly weapon enhancement and the aggravating factor that Ms. McKinney was a particularly vulnerable victim. CP 7-9.

At trial, Ms. McKinney testified that Mr. Martinez

Martinez approached her while she was waiting for a bus. RP

557-58. Mr. Martinez Martinez appeared intoxicated and asked

Ms. McKinney for money. RP 586, 593. The two ended up in

Mr. Martinez Martinez's tent in a nearby encampment, where

he again allegedly asked her for money and sexually assaulted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State also charged Mr. Martinez Martinez with first degree kidnapping, but the Court of Appeals reversed the conviction as a violation of double jeopardy. App. at 12. Mr. Martinez Martinez does not seek review of that portion of the court's ruling.

her.<sup>2</sup> RP 531-34. Ms. McKinney initially testified that Mr. Martinez Martinez held the knife in his hand during the sexual assault. RP 538, 566-67. However, she later clarified that she did not see the knife until the assault was over and she was trying to leave the tent. RP 588-91. She confirmed multiple times during both cross-examination and redirect that she did not see the knife until she was leaving. RP 588-91, 594. She also recanted her earlier testimony that Mr. Martinez Martinez displayed the knife during the sexual encounter, stating that her prior testimony was untrue. RP 594.

The court instructed the jury that it could find Mr.

Martinez Martinez guilty of first degree rape if it found he either (a) used or threatened to use a deadly weapon or (b) kidnapped Ms. McKinney. CP 33. The jury was further instructed that it need not be unanimous as to the alternative means proved, provided each juror agreed at least one of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Martinez Martinez has consistently maintained his innocence. *E.g.* RP 873.

elevating factors was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. CP33. The jury found Mr. Martinez Martinez guilty as charged, including the enhancement and aggravating factor. CP 65-67, 69-71.

Although Mr. Martinez Martinez's standard range sentence was 138-184 months, the court imposed a base sentence of 240 months' confinement based on the particular vulnerability aggravating factor.<sup>3</sup> RP 141-42.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Martinez Martinez's conviction for rape. App. at 1. The court additionally found Mr. Martinez Martinez was entitled to have his offender score reduced pursuant to *State v. Blake*, but stated he was not eligible for resentencing. App. at 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The court imposed a total minimum confinement of 264 months, including the deadly weapon enhancement. CP 141-42.

### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. This Court should grant review because (1) the State's failure to present sufficient evidence as to an alternative means violated Mr. Martinez Martinez's constitutional right to a unanimous jury, and (2) the Court of Appeals improperly found deference to jury determinations on credibility includes assuming jurors disregarded a sworn witness's recantation.
  - a. A jury may not be instructed on an alternative means of committing a crime that is unsupported by the evidence.

The Washington Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to a unanimous jury verdict. Const. art. I, § 21; *State v. Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994). Jury unanimity is necessary to "secure the integrity and reliability of jury deliberations and verdicts." *State v. Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d 157, 163, 392 P.3d 1062 (2017) (citing *Richardson v. United States*, 526 U.S. 813, 819, 119 S. Ct. 1707, 143 L. Ed. 2d (1999)). When a jury is instructed that it may convict a defendant based upon alternative means of committing a single crime, the jury need not be unanimous as to the means as long as each alternative is supported by sufficient

evidence. *State v. Owens*, 180 Wn.2d 90, 95, 323 P.3d 1030 (2014). If, however, the evidence is insufficient to support any of the means, the conviction must be reversed unless the record shows the jury unanimously agreed on a supported means. *Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d at 165. Sufficient evidence exists where a rational juror could have found every element proven beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

b. The State did not present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.

Martinez Martinez used or threatened to use a deadly weapon.

First degree rape is an alternative means offense. *See State v. Whitney*, 108 Wn.2d 506, 739 P.2d 1150 (1987). To prove rape in the first degree, the State must establish sexual intercourse by forcible compulsion in addition to one or more of four alternative elevating circumstances. *Id.* RCW 9A.44.040 provides,

(1) A person is guilty of rape in the first degree when such person engages in sexual intercourse with another person by forcible compulsion where the perpetrator or an accessory:

- (a) Uses or threatens to use a deadly weapon or what appears to be a deadly weapon; or
- (b) Kidnaps the victim; or
- (c) Inflicts serious physical injury, including but not limited to physical injury which renders the victim unconscious; or
- (d) Feloniously enters into the building or vehicle where the victim is situated.

In this case, the court instructed the jury that it could convict Mr. Martinez Martinez based upon the deadly weapon and kidnapping alternative means. CP 33.

The evidence, however, was insufficient to establish that Mr. Martinez Martinez used or threatened to use a deadly weapon during the sexual assault because the assault was complete before any weapon was displayed. A defendant "uses" a deadly weapon for the purposes of RCW 9A.44.040(1)(a) where he points the weapon at the victim or actually attempts to use the weapon to harm the victim during the offense. *See State v. Bright*, 129 Wn.2d 257, 266 n.31, 916 P.2d 922 (1996)

(citing *State v. Hentz*, 99 Wn.2d 538, 541, 663 P.2d 476 (1983)).

The timing is critical: the deadly weapon is not ancillary to the crime – it is the "form of forcible compulsion." *See State v. Brown*, 127 Wn.2d 749, 756, 903 P.2d 459 (1995) (defendant's display of a weapon after the sexual assault was in progress was sufficient to elevate offense). Although the weapon need not be the initial or sole form of forcible compulsion, "[u]nder [RCW 9A.44.040(1)], the use or threatened use of a deadly weapon *during the assault constituting the rape* is an aggravating factor elevating the crime to first degree rape. The plain language of the statute supports no other conclusion." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, the evidence shows Mr. Martinez Martinez did not produce the knife until after the sexual encounter was complete and Ms. McKinney was attempting to leave the vicinity.

Although Ms. McKinney initially testified that Mr. Martinez

Martinez was holding the knife during intercourse, she later

explained she did not see the knife until she was leaving the tent. RP 588. Recognizing the legal import of this testimony, both attorneys repeatedly asked her when exactly she saw the knife. *See* RP 588-91, 594. Over and over again, both on cross-examination and redirect, she confirmed she did not see the knife until she was leaving the tent. RP 588-91, 594. Most critically, she stated that her original testimony was not true. RP 594. There were no corroborating circumstances suggesting her initial testimony was more accurate than her later testimony. It is simply not rational to isolate her earlier testimony as credible while disbelieving her multiple clarifications and explicit recantation.

Although the knife was displayed sometime shortly after the sexual encounter, a single incident can involve multiple, completed crimes. Where one crime is complete, another may start the next moment. *State v. Allen* is instructive. 94 Wn.2d 860, 621 P.2d 143 (1980), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d 413, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). In *Allen*, the

defendants pointed a rifle at a convenience store clerk standing outside the store and demanded he get in their car. *Id.* at 861. After retrieving the cash drawer from the register, the defendants immediately left the store, driving the clerk three blocks before dropping him off. *Id.* The defendants were convicted of both kidnapping and robbery. *Id.* 

This Court rejected the defendants' argument that the trial court should have dismissed the kidnapping charge as incidental to the robbery. *Id.* at 862. Because the plain language of the statutes established that robbery and kidnapping encompassed different elements of proof, once the money was obtained by force, the robbery was complete. *Id.* at 862-64. Although the defendants were also guilty of kidnapping by abducting the clerk immediately following the robbery, the "first crime [] had come to an end before the second crime [] began." *Id.* The sequence matters. Displaying a knife after a sexual assault may amount to criminal conduct, but it is not the conduct necessary to elevate an offense to first degree rape.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that "[t]here is no question that SM's testimony was contradictory," but summed up the issue as one of credibility requiring deference to the jury. App. at 9. While it may be true that the jury is responsible for assessing credibility where testimony is conflicting, the Court of Appeals wrongly extended the general deference to jury assessments to situations where testimony is *recanted*. Conflicting testimony is fundamentally different than recanted testimony. In the first instance, a juror decides which version to believe; in the second, the witness tells the jury which version is true. No rational juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. McKinney's initial testimony was true while finding her multiple clarifications – in response to questions by both the prosecutor and defense – and recantation are not credible.

c. The absence of a particularized expression of juror unanimity requires reversal of the conviction and corresponding deadly weapon enhancement.

"When one alternative means of committing a crime has evidentiary support and another does not, courts may not assume the jury relied unanimously on the supported means." *Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d at 162. Absent some form of colloquy or explicit instruction, it is "impossible to rule out the possibility" that a member of the jury relied on the unsupported means and the conviction must be reversed. *Id.* at 166.

There was no particularized expression of unanimity in this case. The State argued the jury could convict Mr. Martinez Martinez under both the deadly weapon and kidnapping alternative means, and the court instructed the jury on each means. CP 33. This Court may not assume the jury relied upon the supported means. *Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d at 166. Review is warranted.

2. This Court should accept review because it is long past time to revisit *State v. Baldwin*'s holding that aggravating factors are not subject to vagueness challenges.

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence in Mr. Martinez Martinez's case. Based upon his criminal history, the standard range for Mr. Martinez Martinez was 138-184 months' confinement. P139. The court granted the prosecutor's request for an upward exceptional sentence and sentenced Mr. Martinez Martinez to a minimum of 240 months in prison based upon the unconstitutionally vague "particular vulnerability" aggravating factor under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b). CP 80, 141.

a. The void for vagueness doctrine applies to aggravating factors.

The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions prohibit the deprivation of life, liberty, or property

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because the sentence for first degree rape is indeterminate, Mr. Martinez Martinez's release date is subject to review by the Indeterminate Sentencing Review Board (ISRB). The standard range for an indeterminate sentence is the statutory minimum for the offense.

"under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement." *Johnson v. United States*, 576 U.S. 591, 595, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 192 L. Ed. 2d 569 (2015); U.S. Const. amend XIV; Const. art. I, § 3. A party may challenge both statutes defining elements of crimes and statutes fixing sentences as void for vagueness. *Johnson*, 576 U.S. at 596 (citing *United States v. Batchelder*, 442 U.S. 114, 123, 99 S. Ct. 2198, 60 L. Ed. 2d 755 (1979)).

In this case, the Court of Appeals ruled Mr. Martinez

Martinez could not even challenge his sentence as

unconstitutionally vague. App. at 14-15. While the court relied

on this Court's outdated opinion in *State v. Baldwin*, which

found aggravating factors are not subject a vagueness

challenge, much has changed in the nearly 20 years since *Baldwin* was decided. 150 Wn.2d 448, 461, 78 P.3d 1005

(2003). *Baldwin* was based on the premise that aggravating

factors amounted to discretionary sentencing guidelines that do

not "inform the public of penalties" or "vary the statutory maximum and minimum penalties[.]" *Id.* at 459. Because the guidelines did not require a certain outcome, they did not give rise to a constitutionally protected liberty interest subject to due process protections against arbitrary enforcement. *Id.* at 461.

However, in light of the United States Supreme Court's rulings in *Blakely v. Washington*<sup>5</sup> and *Alleyne v. United States*,<sup>6</sup> it is now settled that "any 'facts that increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal defendant is exposed' are elements of the crime" which must be found by a jury. *Alleyne*, 570 U.S. at 111 (quoting *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000)).

Aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535 clearly fall within this category. In response to *Blakely*, the Washington State Legislature amended the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Alleyne v. United States, 570 U.S. 99, 133 S. Ct. 2131, 186 L. Ed. 2d 114 (2013).

setting the statutory maximum for an offense as the upper end of standard range absent a finding of an aggravating circumstance by a jury. RCW 9.94A.537. Far from merely guiding the sentencing court as to the range of possible sentences, the singular function of aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535(3) is to modify the statutory maximum (or minimum) sentence from the upper end of the standard range to a higher sentence based upon additional factual findings. *See* RCW 9.94A.535. The existence of the aggravating factor therefore increases the statutory maximum from the standard range to that designated under RCW 9A.20.021 (providing maximum penalties for each class of offense).

Under *Blakely*, *Apprendi*, and *Alleyne*, aggravators are elements of the offense implicating a defendant's rights not only under the Sixth Amendment, but also under the Fourteenth. In short, aggravating factors now give rise to the constitutionally protected liberty interest found lacking in

Baldwin and are subject to the due process prohibition on vague laws.

Ultimately, this Court has yet to address "whether Baldwin survives Blakely." State v. Duncalf, 177 Wn.2d 289, 296, 300 P.3d 352 (2013). Applying the underlying reasoning in *Baldwin* to the amended SRA should achieve a different result today. Indeed, this Court has signaled its understanding that *Baldwin* no longer applies and aggravators are subject to the prohibition on vague laws. In two post-*Blakely* cases, the Court assumed the defendants could bring void-for-vagueness challenges, reached vagueness arguments on their merits, and noted it need not reach the question of whether Blakely abrogated Baldwin. See State v. Murray, 190 Wn.2d 727, 732 n.1, 416 P.3d 1225 (2018); *Duncalf*, 177 Wn.2d at 298. This Court should accept review because it is finally time to address whether aggravating factors in the amended SRA are subject to vagueness challenges.

b. The particular vulnerability aggravator is void for vagueness.

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