FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/6/2022 2:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100640-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

# DIEGO MARTINEZ MARTINEZ,

Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

ERICA EGGERTSEN
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 40447 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6625

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Appellate Court Properly Applied Well-Settled Case Law in Finding Sufficient Evidence Martinez Martinez Used a Deadly Weapon During the Rape.

The Court of Appeals relied on well-established law and legal principles in determining that substantial evidence supported the deadly-weapon alternative means. There is no

public interest in reviewing the application of these bedrock principles.

# 1. Forcible rape is elevated to a first-degree offense when a deadly weapon is used during the rape.

Martinez Martinez's use of the knife to terrorize S.M. and reinforce her compliance elevated the forcible rape to a first-degree offense. First-degree rape requires the State to prove that the defendant (1) engaged in sexual intercourse; (2) by forcible compulsion; and (3) under one of four possible aggravating circumstances. *State v. Bright*, 129 Wn.2d 257, 266, 916 P.2d 922 (1996); RCW 9A.44.040(1)(a). These aggravating circumstances are alternative means. *State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 340, 351-52, 394 P.3d 373 (2017). Alternative means exist when the legislature has determined the same offense may be committed in different manners. *State v. Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d 157, 163, 392 P.3d 1062 (2017).

Under RCW 9A.44.040(1)(a), a defendant commits first-degree rape when he engages in sexual intercourse by forcible compulsion and "uses or threatens to use a deadly weapon." Use

of the weapon may but need not be the means of forcible compulsion; rather, its use must occur during the assault constituting the rape. *State v. Brown*, 127 Wn.2d 749, 756, 903 P.2d 459 (1995); *Bright*, 129 Wn.2d at 267. Martinez Martinez committed forcible rape when he hit S.M. in the woods, forced her into his tent and onto the ground, and physically assaulted her when she resisted the rape. His further use of a knife during the assault constituted first-degree rape.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the evidence and its reasonable inferences establish substantial evidence of the deadly-weapon alternative means.

Martinez Martinez's right to a unanimous jury under article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution was protected because each alternative means submitted to the jury was supported by substantial evidence. *Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d at 340. Substantial evidence exists when there is sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find an alternative means beyond a reasonable doubt when viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the State. *Id.* at

341-44. S.M. testified unequivocally on at least four occasions during direct and cross examination that Martinez Martinez held the knife while he raped her:

Q Where was the knife when he was raping you?

A In his hand.

5RP 538 (direct).

\*\*\*

Q ...So you said, earlier today, that while he was raping you, he had the knife in his hand. Is that true?

A Um-hum. Yeah.

Q Okay. So we're clear, when you say he was raping you, is that the part where his private part was inside your private part?

A Yeah.

Q And while that was going on, he at the same time had a knife in his hand?

A Yeah.

5RP 565-65 (cross).

\*\*\*

Q So while that was going on, your legs are up here, around his shoulders?

A Yeah.

Q And at the same time, he had a knife in his hand while he was raping you; is that true?

A Yeah.

5RP 567 (cross). These responses alone provide sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to conclude that Martinez Martinez used a knife while he raped S.M. They are consistent with S.M.'s preoccupation with the knife, fear she would be killed, description of the knife near her chest, and documented injuries from grabbing the knife to avoid being stabbed. 5RP 530-33, 538, 544, 550-51, 565-67, 583-85, 588-96; 6RP 751, 758, 808-09.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that information about S.M.'s significant disabilities and communicative limitations informs the inferences to be drawn from her inconsistent statements. Martinez Martinez, 2022 WL 102614 at \*10. In claiming there is insufficient evidence of the deadly-weapon alternative Martinez Martinez means, "necessarily admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it." E.g., State v. Bergstrom, 199 Wn.2d 23, 502 P.3d 837, 847 (2022) (quoting State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105, 330 P.3d 182 (2014)).

Circumstantial evidence is as probative as direct evidence. *State v. Goodman*, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). The court defers to the fact-finder on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. *Bergstrom*, 199 Wn.2d at 847.

When she was well into cross-examination, S.M. provided some inconsistent responses about when Martinez Martinez used the knife. The questions eliciting these responses followed a complex exchange in which counsel accused her of being untruthful when she said the knife didn't touch her *body* because she actually had touched it with her *hand*. 5RP 583-84. Through leading questions, counsel asserted S.M. hadn't *seen* the knife until she was leaving the tent. 5RP 589-91. S.M.'s confusion is evident:

Q Yeah. At nighttime. Right. So is that the first time you saw the knife is when you were leaving the tent?

A Yeah.

Q Okay. So earlier you said that while he was raping you he had the knife in his hand. So those

aren't the same. Which is the truth? Do you remember?

A He was about to stab me.

Q Right. And the question is where were you when he was about to stab you with the knife?

A I was on the ground.

Q Okay. And were you inside the tent, or were you leaving the tent?

A Leaving the tent.

Q Leaving the tent, did all the rapes occur inside the tent?

A Yeah.

Q So if the first time you saw the knife was when you were leaving the tent –

A Yes.

Q -- then he didn't have the knife in his hand while he was raping you inside the tent, does that make sense?

A Yeah.

5RP 589-91. As the appellate court noted, even then, S.M. stated she was "on the ground," and about to be stabbed, supporting the conclusion that Martinez Martinez was using the knife during the assault constituting the rape. *Martinez Martinez*, 2022 WL

102614 at \*9. S.M. repeated the inconsistent statements during re-direct examination. 5RP 592-95.

Inferences drawn from evidence of S.M.'s cognitive and communicative disabilities support the conclusion inconsistent statements in response to complex questions were less credible than the responses she provided to simple, openended questions. *Bergstrom*, 199 Wn.2d at 847. Police officers, a forensic interviewer, the SANE examiner, and SSDD staff testified that S.M. was susceptible to confusion when the subject matter was complicated and had limited ability to track and answer questions. 5RP 520-599, 640, 642, 685; 6RP 749, 755-56, 759, 793, 908-11. The forensic interviewer estimated S.M.'s verbal ability was similar to a five year-old child. 6RP 908-11. While S.M. was admittedly inconsistent with respect to the knife, the testimony and wounds at a minimum provided a consistent inference that Martinez Martinez used the knife during the rape. A rational trier of fact could conclude S.M.'s inconsistent responses in the context of the questioning and her disabilities

were less credible than her repeated and corroborated assertions the knife was used during the rape.

Even assuming for argument that Martinez Martinez only displayed the knife near the end of the criminal assault, when he remained close enough to S.M.'s body she instinctively reacted and cut herself, it is not a separate crime. Martinez Martinez's reliance on *Allen* is misplaced, as the Court there determined a separate kidnapping, unnecessary to and unconnected to the already-completed robbery, was a separate crime. *State v. Allen*, 94 Wn.2d 860, 864, 621 P.2d 143 (1980), *abrogated by State v. Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d 413, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). Here, there was no interruption of the criminal episode until S.M. left the tent. The Court of Appeals rightly concluded sufficient evidence supports the conclusion the knife was used during the rape.

3. There is no basis to change well-settled principles regarding the sufficiency of the evidence and the aggravating circumstances underlying first-degree rape.

The Court of Appeals accurately stressed that there is no authority for Martinez Martinez's contentions that the last

statement a witness makes must be accepted as true and a trier of fact has no role in determining which of conflicting statements is more credible based on the totality of the evidence. Martinez Martinez, 2022 WL 102614 at \*10. Jurors routinely evaluate conflicting statements. Recantation is common in domestic violence cases. See State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 184-85, 189 P.3d 126 (2008) (ER 404(b) evidence relevant to assessing credibility of recantation in domestic violence case). Young children, to whom S.M. can be compared, contradict themselves. See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Grasso, 151 Wn.2d 1, 14-18, 84 P.3d 859 (2004) (discussing cases where child victims recant and make inconsistent statements). The trier of fact is responsible for weighing such testimony.

In essence, Martinez Martinez is asking this Court to accept this case to reverse longstanding evidentiary standards for evaluation of the sufficiency of the evidence. He offers no public policy consideration justifying such a radical departure from the case law. To the contrary, there is a critical public interest in

respecting the jury's ability to evaluate conflicting testimony and inferences in cases involving victims who have an intellectual disability or are children. There is similarly no reason to deviate from long-standing principles mandating courts to review evidence and all inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the State.

B. The Appellate Decision Comports with State and Federal Supreme Court Decisions Affirming that Aggravating Factors Are Exempt from Vagueness Challenges.

Aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535 are not subject to void-for-vagueness challenges. This Court held in *Baldwin* that the due process concerns underlying the void-for-vagueness doctrine are inapplicable to sentencing guidelines that neither inform the public of penalties attached to a criminal act nor alter the minimum or maximum penalty. *State v. Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d 448, 459, 78 P.3d 1005 (2003). A jury's finding of an aggravating factor under RCW 9.94A.535 does not require a certain outcome or vary a crime's statutory minimum or maximum—it merely gives the judge discretionary authority to

impose a sentence outside the standard-sentencing range, but within the legislatively-set maximum. *Id.* at 461. *Baldwin* remains valid following recent state and federal Supreme Court decisions.

Furthermore, the particularly vulnerable victim aggravator is sufficiently definite even if analyzed for vagueness. Martinez Martinez fails to establish any RAP 13.4(b) basis for reassessing the inapplicability of the void-for-vagueness doctrine to aggravating factors.

1. United States and Washington Supreme Court cases support the constitutionality of exempting aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535 from challenges to vagueness.

The United States Supreme Court has validated *Baldwin's* holding that the vagueness doctrine is inapplicable to aggravating factors which do not result in mandatory increased punishment. *Beckles v. United States*, \_\_ U.S.\_\_, 137 S.Ct. 886, 894, 197 L.Ed 2d 145 (2017). *Beckles* held that advisory sentencing guidelines are not subject to a due process void-for-vagueness challenge. *Id.* Due process requires clarity regarding

the range of available sentences for an offense. *Id.* Vagueness challenges are inapplicable to advisory guidelines that guide judicial determination of appropriate sentences within the sentencing range. *Id.* Aggravating factors under RCW 9.94A.535 are similarly advisory. *Baldwin*, 150 Wn.2d at 160-61. They do not require a judge to impose an increased sentence and are thus exempted from vagueness challenges under *Beckles* and *Baldwin*.

Martinez Martinez incorrectly argues that the Supreme Court decision in *Johnson* invalidates *Baldwin*. The Court in *Johnson* held that the residual clause of the Armed Career Criminal Act was void-for-vagueness. *Johnson v. United States*, 576 U.S. 591, 606, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2563, 192 L.Ed.2d 569 (2015). But in *Beckles*, the Court considered whether or not the *Johnson* result applied to sentencing guidelines. *Beckles*, 137 S. Ct. at 892. The Court explained that the residual clause was subject to the vagueness doctrine because it *required* the sentencing court to increase the term of the defendant's sentence.

Id. In contrast, sentencing guidelines that do not fix the permissible range of the sentence but rather guide the exercise of a court's discretion are not subject to a vagueness challenge. See Id.

Martinez Martinez also wrongly focuses on Supreme Court decisions in *Blakely*, *Apprendi*, and *Alleyne* to argue that Baldwin is outdated. But these decisions address the Sixth Amendment right to jury determination of facts that can increase punishment, not application of the due process vagueness doctrine to aggravating factors. Blakely held that with the exception of offender score, a jury must find the existence of aggravating sentencing factors that could increase punishment. Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 305, 305 124 S.Ct. 2531, 2538, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). The procedure in Martinez Martinez's case complied with this rule. *Apprendi*, and *Alleyne*, on the other hand, hold that any fact resulting in a mandatory change to the sentence must be submitted to the jury. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 2350, 147

L.Ed.2d 435 (2000) (mandatory increase beyond statutory maximum); *Alleyne v. United States*, 570 U.S. 99, 186 L.Ed.2d 314, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 (2013) (mandatory increase of minimum sentence). *Apprendi* and *Alleyne* are inapplicable because the particularly vulnerable victim aggravator does not result in a mandatory sentence change.

Each Court of Appeals division recognizes the validity of *Baldwin*, following the Supreme Court decisions in *Blakely*, *Apprendi*, *Alleyne*, and *Johnson*. *State v. Burrus*, 117 Wn. App. 2d 162, 175, 484 P.3d 521 (2021), *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1006, 493 P.3d 746 (2021); *State v. Brush*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 40, 57, 425 P.3d 545 (2018), *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1012, 432 P.3d 792 (2019); *State v. DeVore*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 651, 663, 413 P.3d 58 (2018), *review denied*, 191 Wn.2d 1005, 424 P.3d 1216 (2018). As a result, there is no need to return to this well-plowed ground.

Martinez Martinez's related argument that *Blakely*, *Apprendi*, and *Alleyne* transform aggravating factors into

elements of the crime for all purposes was rejected by this Court in *Siers*, *Allen*, and *Whitaker*. This Court in *Siers* held that aggravating circumstances are not required in the charging information, so long as a defendant receives notice of the essential elements of a charge. *State v. Siers*, 174 Wn.2d 269, 276, 274 P.3d 358 (2012). Under *Siers*, aggravators are not essential elements of the crime.

In *Allen*, this Court held that aggravating factors are elements for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial and the double jeopardy clause for the crime of aggravated murder. *State v. Allen*, 192 Wn.2d 526, 534, 431 P.3d 117 (2018). It explained that under *Alleyne*, "any fact that increases the mandatory minimum is an "element" that must be submitted to the jury." *Id.* (citing *Alleyne*, 570 U.S. 99). Because capital punishment aggravators increase the mandatory minimum, they "are elements of the offense of aggravated first-degree murder for double jeopardy purposes." *Id.* at 544. *Allen* did not implicate the Sentencing Reform Act aggravators. *Id.* at 530 n. 2 (stating

that "[t]hese additional aggravators are not before us."). This Court in *Whitaker* further explained that *Allen* did not transform aggravating circumstances under RCW 9.94A.535 into separately charged crimes—it is limited to aggravating circumstances under RCW 10.95.020. *State v. Whitaker*, 195 Wn.2d 333, 339, 459 P.3d 1074 (2020).

The holdings in *Siers*, *Allen*, and *Whitaker* post-date *Blakely*, *Apprendi*, and *Alleyne*, and firmly establish that aggravating circumstances under RCW 9.94A.535 do not become elements of a crime simply because they implicate the right to trial by jury. *Baldwin's* holding that aggravating circumstances are not subject to vagueness challenges remains constitutionally sound.

# 2. The particularly vulnerable victim aggravator is not unconstitutionally vague.

Review is also unwarranted because even if the vagueness doctrine applied, the particularly vulnerable victim aggravator under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b) is not unconstitutionally vague as applied to the facts of this case. *State v. Duncalf*, 177 Wn.2d 289,

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